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Former Soviet 
Republics
• Armenia

• Azerbaijan

• Belarus

• Estonia

• Georgia

• Kazakhstan

• Kyrgyzstan

• Latvia

• Lithuania

• Moldova

• Russia

• Tajikistan

• Turkmenistan

• Ukraine

• Uzbekistan

United States Central Intelligence Agency. 
(1991) Republics of the Soviet Union. [Washington, 
D.C.: Central Intelligence Agency] [Map] Retrieved 
from the Library of Congress, 
https://www.loc.gov/item/2005626536/2

https://www.loc.gov/item/2005626536/


Notes about this session
From American perspective – secondary vs. post-secondary

Covers only credentials that may be at least partially secondary level

Only an overview – not exhaustive

Dates not absolute

Pay attention to native-language names of institutions/credentials
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Soviet Era: Up to 1991
Vocational-technical education
◦ Admission based on:

◦ Incomplete Secondary Education (8 years) or
◦ Secondary Education (10 years)

◦ Duration: 1-3 years, depending on 
admission level

◦ Could include general secondary 
education for admission based on 
Incomplete Secondary

◦ Type of institution:
◦ [Secondary] vocational-technical specialized 

school (uchilishche)
◦ [среднее] профессиональное-техническое

училище

◦ Credential:
◦ Diploma from vocational-technical uchilishche, 

confirming vocational qualification (and general 
secondary education, if applicable)

◦ Graduates who completed 
general secondary could be admitted to 
university degree programs, but some 
work experience usually required first
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Soviet Era: Up to 1991
Specialized & technical education
◦ Admission based on:

◦ Incomplete Secondary Education (8 years) or
◦ Secondary Education (10 years)

◦ Duration:
◦ 4 years with admission based on Incomplete 

Secondary
◦ 2 years with admission based on Secondary

◦ Included general secondary education for 
those who entered based on Incomplete 
Secondary

Type of institution:
◦ Technical school (tekhnikum / техникум)
◦ Specialized school (uchilishche / училище)

Credential:
◦ Diploma from tekhnikum/uchilishche 

confirming qualification

Graduates eligible for admission to higher 
education, but generally no advanced 
standing
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Soviet Era: 
Up to 1991 
samples (1)
Type of school:

Vocational-technical 
uchilishche

Duration:
3 years

Qualification:
Maker of women's and 
children's light clothing
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Soviet Era: 
Up to 1991 
samples (2)
Type of school:

Pedagogical uchilishche

Duration:
4 years

Qualification:
Primary School Teacher, 
Senior Pioneer Leader
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Soviet Era: 
Up to 1991
samples (3)
Type of school:

Tekhnikum (Tehnicumul)

Duration:
2 years

Qualification:
Accountant 
(Bookkeeper)
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Uzbekistan

Dates of key post-independence legislation:

◦ Law on Education 29 August 1997
◦ https://lex.uz/docs/-16188
◦ Implemented gradually

◦ Law on Education 23 September 2020
◦ https://lex.uz/uz/docs/-5013007
◦ Reforms began in 2017 with presidential 

resolution

Flag: https://pixabay.com/
Map: https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/maps/ 9

https://lex.uz/docs/-16188
https://lex.uz/uz/docs/-5013007
https://pixabay.com/
https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/maps/


Uzbekistan: Pre-1997 System
Still more or less following Soviet-era model

◦ Lower vocational
◦ Admission based on Certificate of Basic 

Education (8 years)
◦ Up to 2 years; may include general secondary 

in addition to vocational training
◦ Upper vocational secondary

◦ Admission based on either Certificate of Basic 
Education (8 years) or Certificate of Secondary 
Education (10 years)

◦ 4 years (including general secondary subjects) 
if admitted based on Basic Education, 2 years if 
based on Secondary Education

Type of institution:
◦ Texnikum / техникум (technical school)
◦ Bilim yurti / билим юрти (specialized school) 

– Uzbek term for uchilishche

Credential:
◦ Diploma from texnikum/bilim yurti confirming 

qualification

In general, no advanced standing in higher 
education.
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Uzbekistan: Pre-
1997 System 
samples (1) 

Type of school:
Higher vocational bilim
yurti

Duration:
2 years

Qualification:
Secretary-Referent
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Uzbekistan: Pre-
1997 System 
samples (2)

Type of school:
Texnikum

Duration:
4 years

Qualification:
Technician-Mechanic
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Uzbekistan: Pre-
1997 System 
samples (3)

Type of school:
Medical bilim yurti

Duration:
2 years

Qualification:
Medical Nurse

13



Uzbekistan: 1997 Reform System
Important: This system was implemented gradually 
throughout the country; you may still see qualifications 
from the previous system for several years after 1997.

Structure:
◦ Admission based on Certificate of General Secondary 

Education (Умумий ўрта таълим тўғрисида 
шаҳодатнома/Umumiy o'rta ta’lim to'g'risida
shahodatnoma) – 9 years

◦ Duration: 3 years
◦ Includes general secondary subjects in addition to 

vocational training

Type of institution:
◦ Kolleji / коллежи (college)
◦ Kasb-hunar kolleji (professional/vocational college)
◦ Texnikum / техникум (technical school)

Credential:
◦ Kasb-Hunar Kolleji Diplomi (Diploma of Professional 

College)

Graduates eligible for admission to higher education, but 
no advanced standing

Secondary specialized – vocational education system

Secondary specialized education
(academic lyceums)

Vocational education
(vocational colleges)

Graphic from Umumiy O'rta Va O'rta Maxsus, Kasb-Hunar Ta'limi
(General Secondary and Secondary Specialized, Vocational Education) from 
Ministry of Higher and Secondary Specialized Education
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Uzbekistan: 1997 
Reform System 
samples (1)

Type of school: 
Kolleji

Duration:
3 years

Qualification: 
Obstetrician (Midwife)

Type of school: 
Kasb-hunar kolleji

Duration:
3 years

Qualification: 
Accountant 15



Uzbekistan: 1997 Reform System samples (2)
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Uzbekistan: 1997 Reform System samples (3)
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Uzbekistan: 2017-2020 Reforms
Levels of vocational education:

◦ Boshlang‘ich professional ta’lim (primary vocational 
education)
◦ Offered in vocational schools (kasb-hunar maktablar)
◦ 2 years full-time on basis of Grade 9
◦ Integrates general education and specialty subjects

◦ O‘rta professional ta’lim (secondary vocational 
education)
◦ Offered in colleges (kollejlar)
◦ Admission based on general secondary, secondary 

specialized, or primary vocational education (11 years)
◦ Up to 2 years; may be full-time, evening, or part-time

◦ O‘rta maxsus professional ta’lim (secondary 
specialized vocational education)
◦ Offered in technical schools (texnikumlar)
◦ Admission based on general secondary, secondary 

specialized, or primary vocational education (11 years)
◦ Up to 2 years; may be full-time, evening, or part-time

Remains to be seen how this works out in practice
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Uzbekistan: 
2017-2020 
Reforms

Caution: English name for qualification for both Grade 9 and 
Grade 11 is Certificate of General Secondary Education

◦ Check Uzbek/Russian names to confirm level

Grade 9 Grade 11

19



Russia

Dates of key legislation:

◦ Law on Education 1992
◦ Officially implemented in 1996
◦ http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/

Publications/WDE/2010/pdf-
versions/Russian_Federation.pdf

◦ Law on Education article 70 2012
◦ Wayback Machine (archive.org)
◦ “General Requirements Towards the 

Organization of Educational Admission into the 
Bachelor and Specialist Programs”

◦ Admission Policy Changes 2015
◦ https://www.ucheba.ru/article/848

Flag: https://pixabay.com/
Map: https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/maps/ 20

http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Publications/WDE/2010/pdf-versions/Russian_Federation.pdf
https://web.archive.org/web/20190313093925/https:/%D0%BC%D0%B8%D0%BD%D0%BE%D0%B1%D1%80%D0%BD%D0%B0%D1%83%D0%BA%D0%B8.%D1%80%D1%84/%D0%B4%D0%BE%D0%BA%D1%83%D0%BC%D0%B5%D0%BD%D1%82%D1%8B/2974/%D1%84%D0%B0%D0%B9%D0%BB/1543/12.12.29-%D0%A4%D0%97_%D0%9E%D0%B1_%D0%BE%D0%B1%D1%80%D0%B0%D0%B7%D0%BE%D0%B2%D0%B0%D0%BD%D0%B8%D0%B8_%D0%B2_%D0%A0%D0%BE%D1%81%D1%81%D0%B8%D0%B9%D1%81%D0%BA%D0%BE%D0%B9_%D0%A4%D0%B5%D0%B4%D0%B5%D1%80%D0%B0%D1%86%D0%B8%D0%B8.pdf
https://www.ucheba.ru/article/848
https://pixabay.com/
https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/maps/


Russia: Post-Soviet Era Schools
Still more or less following Soviet-era model
◦ Basic Professional Education

◦ Tekhnikum (Technical Specialized School)
◦ Professional Uchilishche (Professional Specialized School)

◦ Intermediate Professional Education
◦ Uchilishche (Specialized School)
◦ Kolledzh (College)
◦ Litsey (Lyceum)

◦ Not necessarily vocational, can be specialized secondary school with an enhanced 
curriculum in a core subject field
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Russia: Basic Professional Education
Hачальное профессиональное 
образование (Basic level Professional 
Education)

◦ Below the level of Uchilishche/Tekhnikum
(Specialized School/Technical Specialized 
School) education

◦ Programs for skilled workers (based on grade 
9, formerly grade 8)

◦ Does not usually include the general 
education component required for award of 
upper secondary education (i.e. “Attestat”)
◦ If it did, final diploma would confirm completion of 

general secondary education in addition to the 
vocational qualification

Type of institution:
◦ Professional Uchilishche (Professional 

Specialized School)
◦ Program duration ranges from 1-2.5 years after grade 9, 

to 1-1.5 years after complete secondary education
◦ Does not provide access to higher education unless it 

confirms completion of general secondary education

◦ Professional Lyceum
◦ Program duration ranges from 3 years after grade 9, or 

1-1.5 years after completed secondary education
◦ Provides both vocational training and upper secondary 

education
◦ Diploma confirms both vocational qualification and 

general secondary education
◦ Provides access to higher education
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Russia: General Secondary Education
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Russia: 
Professional 
Uchilishche
(Specialized 
School) sample 1

Type of school: 
Professional Uchilishche
(Specialized School)

Duration:
2.5 years after grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of Chemical 
Production Operator of 
the Fourth Category
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Russia: 
Professional 
Uchilishche
(Specialized 
School) sample 2

Type of school: 
Professional Uchilishche
(Specialized School)

Duration:
1 year after complete 
secondary education

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of Accountant, 
Secretary-Typist, Computer 
Operator
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Russia: 
Professional 
Uchilishche
(Specialized 
School) sample 3

Type of school: 
Professional Uchilishche
(Specialized School)

Duration:
4 years after grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming 
completion of basic 
vocational training with the 
qualification of Dressmaker 
of Women’s Outerwear of 
the Fourth Category
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Russia: 
Professional 
Lyceum sample 
1

Type of school: 
Professional Lyceum

Duration:
1 year after complete 
secondary education

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of 
Accountant 
(Bookkeeper)
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Russia: 
Professional 
Lyceum sample 
2

Type of school: 
Professional Lyceum

Duration:
3 years after grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming 
completion of basic 
vocational and complete 
general education, with 
the qualification of 
Technician
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Russia: Intermediate Professional Education
Cреднее профессиональное 
образование (Intermediate Professional 
Education)

- After 1991, we consider these a combination 
of high school and post-secondary study

◦ Advanced standing granted into university 
based on program duration and level of 
secondary school completed prior to 
program

Type of institution:
◦ Tekhnikum (Technical Specialized School) and 

Uchilishche (Specialized School)
◦ Offers programs in humanities, social sciences, natural and 

physical sciences, including economics and mathematics, 
general and specialized professional disciplines, and 
practical training

◦ Not to be confused with professional Uchilishche
(Specialized School)

◦ Kolledzh (College)
◦ Provide an extension of study of 1 year, in addition to 

curricula offered by uchilishche and tekhnikum, but we have 
seen full programs completed at colleges after grade 9

◦ Focus is on in-depth theoretical preparation in the 
profession, and more practical training

◦ Content of education is not very different from programs at 
Tekhnikum (Technical Specialized School)
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Russia: Tehknikum
(Technical 
Specialized School) 
sample 1

Type of school: 
Tehknikum (Technical 
Specialized School)

Duration:
2 years, with admission 
based on Attestat

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of Technician 
in Clothing Production
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Russia: Kolledzh
(College) sample 
1

Type of school: 
Kolledzh (College)

Duration:
2 years, with admission 
based on Attestat

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of Jurist, 
specialty in Jurisprudence
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Russia: Kolledzh
(College) sample 
2

Type of school: 
Kolledzh (College)

Duration:
3 years, with admission 
based on the Attestat

Qualification: 
Diploma of Intermediate 
Professional Education 
confirming the 
qualification of Medical 
Nurse
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Russia: 
Uchilishche
(Specialized 
School) sample 1

Type of school: 
Uchilishche (Specialized 
School)

Duration:
3 years, with admission based 
on the Attestat

Qualification: 
Diploma of Intermediate 
Professional Education 
confirming the qualification of 
Social Teacher for Special 
Children’s Homes and Boarding 
Schools, in the specialty of 
Social Pedagogy
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Russia: Tekhnikum
(Technical 
Specialized School) 
sample 2

Type of school: 
Tekhnikum (Technical 
Specialized School)

Duration:
3.5 years, with admission 
based on grade 8 or grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of Technician 
in Telecommunication 
Systems
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Russia: Kolledzh
(College) sample 
3

Type of school: 
Kolledzh (College)

Duration:
3 years, with admission 
based on grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of 
Accountant (Bookkeeper)
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Russia: Kolledzh
(College) sample 
4

Type of school: 
Kolledzh (College)

Duration:
4 years, with admission 
based on grade 8 or grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma of Secondary 
Professional Education 
confirming the qualification 
of Technologist in Public 
Catering Services
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Russia: Tekhnikum
(Technical 
Specialized School) 
sample 3

Type of school: 
Tekhnikum (Technical 
Specialized School)

Duration:
4 years, with admission 
based on grade 8 or grade 9

Qualification: 
Diploma confirming the 
qualification of Technician 
in Software for Computers 
and Automated Systems
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Ukraine

Dates of key legislation:

◦ Law on Education 1991
◦ EJ1165224.pdf (ed.gov)
◦ Introduced junior specialist credential

◦ Law on Education 2014/2017
◦ https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1556-
18?test=4/UMfPEGznhhy3W.Zif8JlvkHI412s80msh8Ie6#Text

◦ As of 2017, there will be no admission into 
junior bachelor programs

◦ Entrance into junior specialist will be conducted 
with separate admission conditions

◦ Vocational students with incomplete education 
wishing to be admitted to HEI’s will have to sit 
for independent external testing

Flag: https://pixabay.com/
Map (pre 2014): https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/maps/ 38

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1165224.pdf
https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1556-18?test=4/UMfPEGznhhy3W.Zif8JlvkHI412s80msh8Ie6#Text
https://pixabay.com/
https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/maps/


http://enic.in.ua/index.php/en/educationl-system
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Ukraine: Post-Soviet Era Qualifications
Vocational education has consisted of two types of qualifications
◦ Диплом кваліфікованого робітника – Diploma of Qualified Worker

◦ Comparable to Russian basic professional education
◦ Mainly secondary school level
◦ Holders can be admitted into first year studies at an HEI, or into second year of Junior 

Specialist within the same field, based on the discretion of the institution
◦ Про затвердження Умов прийому д... | від 29.10.2013 № 1510 (rada.gov.ua)

◦ Диплом молодшого спеціаліста – Diploma of Junior Specialist
◦ Introduced in 1991 after the fall of the Soviet Union
◦ Semi-academic degree which grants advanced standing into higher degrees

Access to Higher Education for Secondary Professional Education Graduates in Russia and Ukraine: 2017 Pre-
conference Edition (taicep.org)
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Ukraine: 
Qualified worker 
sample 1

Type of school: 
Higher Professional School

Duration:
2 years after grade 9

Qualification: 
Certificate of Complete 
General Secondary Education 
and Diploma of Qualified 
Worker confirming the 
qualification of General Lathe 
Operator, Operator of Lathes 
with Software Programming
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Ukraine: 
Qualified worker 
sample 1

Type of school: 
Higher Professional School

Duration:
2 years after grade 9

Qualification: 
Certificate of Complete General 
Secondary Education and 
Diploma of Qualified Worker 
confirming the qualification of 
General Lathe Operator, 
Operator of Lathes with 
Software Programming
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Ukraine: Junior 
Specialist 
sample 1

Type of school: 
Higher professional school

Duration:
2 years after complete 
general education

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist Diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Technician
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Ukraine: 
Qualified worker 
sample 2

Type of school: 
Professional-Technical School

Duration:
2 years after grade 9, does not 
include general education 

Qualification: 
Diploma of Qualified Worker 
confirming the qualification of 
Post Operator, 
Telecommunication Operator, 
Cashier
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Ukraine: Junior Specialist secondary split
When is Atestat awarded?

◦ 2001 Legislation
◦ According to legislation, students receive Atestat of Complete General Secondary Education 

concurrently with Diploma of Junior Specialist.
◦ Cancelled in 2010

◦ Про затвердження Положення про д... | від 25.04.2001 № 341 
(rada.gov.ua)

◦ 2010 Legislation
◦ According to this legislation, students study the courses of general education during the first two 

years of the Junior Specialist program
◦ The school orders and receives the Atestat of Complete General Secondary Education after the 

student completes the second studying year and this document is kept in the archives until graduation

◦ Про затвердження Положення про д... | від 07.07.2010 № 675 
(rada.gov.ua)
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Ukraine: Junior Specialist program length
We see four common arrangements for Junior Specialist entry level and duration combinations
◦ Grade 9 + 4-year program

◦ How ECE treats them: High school diploma and associate degree
◦ Atestat + 3-year program

◦ How ECE treats them:  Additional 1 year of high school study and associate degree
◦ Grade 9 + 3-year program

◦ How ECE treats them: High school diploma and one year of undergraduate study
◦ Atestat + 2-year program

◦ How ECE treats them: Additional 1 year of high school study and one year of 
undergraduate study, or associate degree
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Ukraine: Junior 
specialist sample 
2

Type of school: 
University

Duration:
Grade 9 + 4-year program

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Primary 
School Teacher, School 
Associations Coordinator
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Ukraine: Junior 
specialist sample 
2

Type of school: 
University

Duration:
Junior Specialist + 2

Qualification: 
Bachelor diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Bachelor 
of Pedagogical Education 
(Primary Education)
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Ukraine: Junior 
specialist sample 
2

Type of school: 
University

Duration:
Junior Specialist + 2

Qualification: 
Bachelor diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Bachelor 
of Pedagogical Education 
(Primary Education)
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Ukraine: Junior 
specialist sample 
3

Type of school: 
College affiliated to 
University (Nova Kakhovka
College of Tavria State 
Agrotechnological 
University)

Duration:
Atestat + 3-year program

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist Diploma 
confirming the qualification 
of Junior Specialist in Law
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Ukraine: Junior 
specialist sample 
4

Type of school: 
Tekhnikum (Technical 
Specialized School)

Duration:
Grade 9 + 3-year program

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist Diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Junior 
Specialist of Finance
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Ukraine: Junior 
specialist sample 
5

Type of school: 
Tehknikum (Technical 
Specialized School)

Duration:
Atestat + 2-year program

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist Diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of 
Merchandiser-
Businessman
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Ukraine: Unusual Scenarios
◦ We have seen examples where old soviet diplomas from an uchilishche or tekhnikum will 

be reissued as a junior specialist
◦ We base our evaluation on the time period when it was completed
◦ This can even be verified via the Inforesurs database, but we still consider it 

secondary level 

We have also seen newer Junior Specialist programs issued in the older paper diploma
◦ In Ukraine Enic Naric it is stated that “from 2014-2015, the issuance of 

documents on higher education, both on the previous year’s sample forms, 
and on forms approved by the universities”
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Ukraine: Soviet 
Diploma as 
Junior specialist 
sample

Type of school: 
Uchilishche (Specialized 
School)

Duration:
Attestat + 2 

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist Diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Physician’s 
Assistant
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Ukraine: old 
format for 2015

Type of school: 
Kolledzh (College)

Duration:
4 years after grade 9

Qualification: 
Junior Specialist Diploma 
confirming the 
qualification of Medical 
Nurse
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Lithuania
Lietuvos Respublika

Key legislation dates:

June 1991 Law on Education

October 1997 Law on Vocational Education and Training

June 1998 Law on Non-Formal Adult Education

March 2000 Law on Higher Education

April 2008 Law on the Regulated Recognition of Professional Qualification Law

March 2011 Law on Education

January 2014 Law on the Regulated Recognition of Professional Qualification Law 
Amendments of Article 45 and Annexes 5,6,8 to X-1478

December 2015 Law on the Regulated Recognition of Professional Qualification Law

Full text of all laws can be read here: https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalActSearch/lt

https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalActSearch/lt


Kvalifikacijos Pažyméjimas / Certificate of Qualification
Profesino Mokymo Diplomas / Vocational Training Diploma

Requires: Pagrindinė mokykla (grade 10)

Duration: 2-4 years

Leads to: Further vocational / technical training and 
employment

Institutions: Profesine Mokykla (vocational school), 
Kolegija (college)

US level: Vocational / technical high school with some 
lower level undergraduate transfer credits



Profesino Mokymo Diplomas / Profesino Bakalauro Diplomas
Vocational Training Diploma / Vocational Bachelor Diploma

Requires: Brandos Atestatas (Maturity Certificate)

Duration: 3-4 years (120 – 160 national credits / 180 – 240 ECTS)

Leads to: further vocational training, employment, can be admitted 
into 5th year of the Bakalauro Diplomas (Bachelor), holders can also 
be admitted into the Magistro Laipsnis (Master) with a 1-1½ year 
bridge course

Institutions: Universitetas (university), Akademija (Academy), 
Kolegija (college) 

US level: associate or associate of applied science



European Professional Card (EPC)



Kvalifikacijos 
Pažyméjimas



Kvalifikacijos 
Pažyméjimas



Profesino 
Mokymo 
Diplomas



Profesino
Bakalauro
Diplomas

https://www.vdtat.gov.lt/

https://www.vdtat.gov.lt/


Aukštojo
Mokslo
Diplomas



Republic of 
Kazakhstan

Қазақстан Республикасы

Key legislation:

Dec 1991 first Law on Budget System

April 1995 Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan on Education

July 2007 Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan on Education

All laws can be viewed here: https://cis-legislation.com/search.fwx

https://cis-legislation.com/search.fwx


https://wenr.wes.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WENR-Kazakhstan-CP-2021-Infographic.jpg

Диплом о среднем профессиональном образовании / кәсіптік Орта білім
туралы диплом / Diploma of (Secondary) Intermediate Professional Education
Диплом о техническом и профессиональном образовании / Техникалық
және кәсіптік білімі туралы диплом / Diploma in Technical and Vocational 
Education

Requires: Свидетельство об окончании основной средней школы / Негізгі
орта мектепті бітіру туралы куәлік / Certificate of Completion of Basic 
Secondary Education or 9th grade equivalent (for 4 year program)
жалпы орта білім туралы Аттестат / Аттестат об общем о среднем
образовании / Certificate of General Secondary Education, or 10th grade 
equivalent (for 3 year program)

Duration: 3-4 years

Leads to: employment, кәсіптік Орта білім туралы диплом / Диплом о 
среднем профессиональном образовании / Diploma of Intermediate 
Professional Education

https://wenr.wes.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WENR-Kazakhstan-CP-2021-Infographic.jpg
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Диплом о техническом и профессиональном образовании / Техникалық
және кәсіптік білімі туралы диплом / Diploma in Technical and Vocational 
Education
Диплом о среднем профессиональном образовании / кәсіптік Орта білім
туралы диплом / Diploma of Intermediate Professional Education

Requires: жалпы орта білім туралы Аттестат / Аттестат об общем о среднем
образовании / Certificate of General Secondary Education

Duration: 2-3 years

Leads to: employment or Bachelor studies

https://wenr.wes.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/WENR-Kazakhstan-CP-2021-Infographic.jpg


Диплом о среднем
профессиональном
образовании

кәсіптік Орта білім туралы
диплом

Diploma of (Secondary) 
Intermediate Professional 
Education



Диплом о техническом и 
профессиональном образовании

Техникалық және кәсіптік білімі
туралы диплом

Diploma in Technical and Vocational 
Education



Диплом ОАБ

кәсіптік Орта білім туралы
диплом

Diploma of Vocational 
Secondary Education



Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Armenia
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1999 Law on Education
2005 Law on Primary Vocational 
(Handicraft) and Secondary 
Vocational Education

Դիպլոմ [Diploma] of 
Նախնական 
Մասնագիտական 
(Արհեստագործական) 
Կրթության [Primary 
Vocational (Handcraft) 
Education]

Basic General Education (9 
years)
• 6 months – 3 years, by field & 

whether general secondary 
included

Yes, if secondary general 
education included

Դիպլոմ [Diploma] of 
Միջին Մասնագիտական 
Կրթության [Secondary 
Vocational Education]

Basic General Education (9 
years)
• 3-5 years, by field

Secondary General Education 
(10-12 years by time period)
• 1 year less than if based on 

Basic General Education

Yes, with up to 1 year of 
advanced standing possible in 
some cases

Image: https://pixabay.com/

71

http://www.anqa.am/en/about-us/legal-field/laws/law-of-the-republic-of-armenia-on-education/
http://www.anqa.am/en/about-us/legal-field/laws/law-of-the-republic-of-armenia-on-primary-vocational-handicraft-and-secondary-vocational-education/
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Azerbaijan
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1992 Law on Education
2009 Law on Education
2018 Law on Vocational 
Education

Diplom (Diploma) of Ilk Peşə
Təhsili (Initial Vocational 
Education)

General Secondary Education (9 years)
• 1 year

Complete Secondary Education (11 
years)
• 6 months

No

Diplom (Diploma) of Texniki
Peşə Təhsili (Technical 
Vocational Education)

General Secondary Education (9 years)
• 2 years (3 years if Complete 

Secondary included)

Complete Secondary Education (11 
years)
• 1 year

Yes, if Complete Secondary 
Education included

Diplom (Diploma) of Yüksək
Texniki Peşə Təhsili (Higher 
Technical Vocational Education), 
Subbakalavr Dərəcəsi (Sub-
bachelor Degree)

General Secondary Education (9 years)
• 4 years

Complete Secondary Education (11 
years)
• 3 years

Yes, with advanced standing 
possible in some cases

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://miq.edu.az/qanun/2.pdf
https://president.az/articles/29151/print
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Belarus
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1991 Law on Education
2011 Code of the Republic of 
Belarus on Education

диплом о профессионально-
техническом образовании
(Diploma of Vocational-
Technical Education)

General basic education (9 years)
• 1-3 years, by field & whether 

general secondary included

General secondary education (11 
years)
• 1-2 years, by field

Yes, if general secondary 
education included; advanced 
standing possible in some cases

диплом о среднем 
специальном образовании
(Diploma of Secondary 
Specialized Education)

General basic education (9 years)
• 3-4 years, by field

General secondary education (11 
years)
• 2-3 years, by field

Vocational education w/general 
secondary (10-11 years)
• 1-3 years, by field

Yes, with advanced standing 
possible in some cases

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://pravo.by/document/?guid=3871&p0=hk1100243
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Estonia
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

2013 Vocational Educational 
Institutions Act

VET Certificate Level 2 (without 
basic education requirement), 
VET Certificate Level 3

-no minimum admission 
requirements at 2nd or 3rd EQF 
levels

No

VET Certificate Level 4 (Upper 
Secondary VET)

-Entry requires basic education, 
up to 3 years

Yes

VET Certificate Level 5 (based 
on upper secondary education)

- Entry requires upper 
secondary education, 0.5-2.5 
years

Qualification is post-secondary, 
advanced standing into other 
programs possible

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/505022014002/consolide/current
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Georgia
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1998 Law on Initial Vocational 
Education and Training
2006 Higher Education Law of 
Georgia No. 2795

პროფესიულ – ტექნიკური
სასწავლებლის დიპლომი
(Diploma of Occupational 
Technical School)

1-4 years on basis of admission, 
3-4 year program signifies 
completion of general 
secondary education

Yes, if secondary 
general education obtained

საშუალო (სახელობო) 
განათლების ატესტატი / 
დიპლომი
(Certificate/Diploma of 
Secondary Vocational 
Education)

3 years after Basic Education Yes

Დიპლომი (Diploma) awarded 
by a ტექნიკუმი (Tehknikum)

2-3 years after certificate of 
complete general education or 
3-4 years after basic education

Yes, advanced standing into 
other programs possible.

NAFSA (2008) Online Guide to Educational Systems 
Around the World [Washington, D.C.: NAFSA 
Association of International Educators] Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://www.etf.europa.eu/sites/default/files/m/C12578310056925BC125701100511A37_EECA_VET_&_EMPL_Georgia_04_EN.pdf
https://matsne.gov.ge/ru/document/download/32830/53/en/pdf
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Kyrgyzstan
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1992 Law on Education
1999/2008 Law on Initial 
Vocational Education
2001/2009 Law on the Status of 
Teacher

Diploma of Technical Education 
(Offered at Technicums)

2 years after grade 9 yes

Higher Technician (Offered at 
Colleges)

2 years after Diploma of 
Technical Education or 
complete secondary general 
education

Grants advanced standing into 
third year of post-secondary

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://unevoc.unesco.org/wtdb/worldtvetdatabase_kgz_en.pdf
https://unevoc.unesco.org/wtdb/worldtvetdatabase_kgz_en.pdf
https://unevoc.unesco.org/wtdb/worldtvetdatabase_kgz_en.pdf
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Latvia
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1999 Vocational Education Law
2001-2017 Amendments to the 
Vocational Education Law
2001 Law on Regulated 
Professions and Recognition of 
Professional Qualifications

certificate of basic vocational 
education (Apliecība par 
Profesionālo Pamatizglītību)

Must be at least 15 years old to 
enter, 3 years duration

No

Certificate of Vocational 
Education (Atestāts par 
Arodizglītību)

Requires basic education or 
basic vocational education, 3 
years duration

No, students must take a one-
year bridge program for that.

Diploma of Vocational 
Secondary Education (Diploms 
par Profesionālo Vidējo 
Izglītību)

Requires basic education 
or basic vocational education, 
4 years duration

Yes

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_isn=56400&p_lang=en
https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/20244-vocational-education-law
https://www.cedefop.europa.eu/files/4134_en.pdf
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Moldova
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1995 Law on Education
2014 Education Code

Certificat de calificare
(Certificate of Qualification) 
(ISCED level 3)

Gymnasium education (9 years)
• 1-3 years

Lyceum education (12 years)
• 1-2 years

No, but can transfer to year 12 
of lyceum if not already 
completed or go on to Diplomă
de studii profesionale program

Diplomă de studii profesionale
(Diploma of Professional 
Studies) (ISCED levels 4-5)

Gymnasium education (9 years)
• 3-5 years

Lyceum education (12 years)
• 2-3 years

Certificat de calificare in related 
field
• 2-3 years

Yes, with advanced standing 
possible in some cases

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://www.legis.md/cautare/getResults?doc_id=16717&lang=ro
http://lex.justice.md/md/355156/
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Tajikistan
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1993 Law on Education
2003 Law on Primary Vocational 
Education
2004 Law on Education
2013 Law on Education
2015 Law on Secondary 
Vocational Education

Диплом (Diploma) of таҳсилоти
ибтидоии касбӣ (primary 
vocational education) from 
литсейи касбӣ (vocational 
lyceum) or литсейи техникӣ
(technical lyceum)

Basic general education (9 years)
• 3 years including general 

secondary
• 1-2 years without general 

secondary

Complete general secondary (11-
12 years)
• 2 years

Yes

Диплом (Diploma) of таҳсилоти
миёнаи касбӣ (secondary 
vocational education) from 
техникум (texnikum) or коллеҷ
(college)

Basic general education (9 years)
• 4 years including general 

secondary

Complete general secondary (11-
12 years)
• 3 years

Yes, with advanced standing 
possible in some cases

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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http://mmk.tj/content/%D2%9B%D0%BE%D0%BD%D1%83%D0%BD%D0%B8-%D2%B7%D1%83%D0%BC%D2%B3%D1%83%D1%80%D0%B8%D0%B8-%D1%82%D0%BE%D2%B7%D0%B8%D0%BA%D0%B8%D1%81%D1%82%D0%BE%D0%BD-%D0%B4%D0%B0%D1%80-%D0%B1%D0%BE%D1%80%D0%B0%D0%B8-%D1%82%D0%B0%D2%B3%D1%81%D0%B8%D0%BB%D0%BE%D1%82%D0%B8-%D0%B8%D0%B1%D1%82%D0%B8%D0%B4%D0%BE%D0%B8%D0%B8-%D0%BA%D0%B0%D1%81%D0%B1%D3%A3
http://maorif.khujand.tj/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=136:qonunho&catid=38:qonunho&Itemid=190&lang=tg
http://mmk.tj/content/%D2%9B%D0%BE%D0%BD%D1%83%D0%BD%D0%B8-%D2%B7%D1%83%D0%BC%D2%B3%D1%83%D1%80%D0%B8%D0%B8-%D1%82%D0%BE%D2%B7%D0%B8%D0%BA%D0%B8%D1%81%D1%82%D0%BE%D0%BD-%D0%B4%D0%B0%D1%80-%D0%B1%D0%BE%D1%80%D0%B0%D0%B8-%D0%BC%D0%B0%D0%BE%D1%80%D0%B8%D1%84
http://mmk.tj/content/%D2%9B%D0%BE%D0%BD%D1%83%D0%BD%D0%B8-%D2%B7%D1%83%D0%BC%D2%B3%D1%83%D1%80%D0%B8%D0%B8-%D1%82%D0%BE%D2%B7%D0%B8%D0%BA%D0%B8%D1%81%D1%82%D0%BE%D0%BD-%D0%B4%D0%B0%D1%80-%D0%B1%D0%BE%D1%80%D0%B0%D0%B8-%D1%82%D0%B0%D2%B3%D1%81%D0%B8%D0%BB%D0%BE%D1%82%D0%B8-%D0%BC%D0%B8%D1%91%D0%BD%D0%B0%D0%B8-%D0%BA%D0%B0%D1%81%D0%B1%D3%A3
https://pixabay.com/


Snapshot of other former Soviet 
countries - Turkmenistan
Relevant legislation Credentials Basis of admission

• Duration
Eligible for higher 
education?

1993 Law on Education
2009 Law on Education
2013 Law on Education
2021 Revised version of 2013 
law

Başlangyç Hünär Bilimi 
Hakynda Diplom (Diploma of 
Initial Vocational Education)

General secondary education 
(12 years)
• 1-1.5 years

Possibly (2013 legislation says 
yes, 2021 revision does not)

Orta Hünär Bilimi Hakynda
Diploma (Diploma of 
[Secondary] Vocational 
Education)

General secondary education 
(12 years)
• 2-4 years

Yes, with advanced standing 
possible in some cases

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://www.parahat.info/law/2009-08-20-zakon-turkmenistana-ob-obrazovanii
https://education.gov.tm/uploads/documents/kwlBjJqvAqb0hdTe.pdf
https://turkmenistan.gov.tm/tk/habar/55028/turkmenistanyn-kanuny-bilim-hakynda-rejelenen-gornusi
https://pixabay.com/


Resources
Armenia
◦ Ministry of Education, Science, Culture and Sports: 

https://escs.am/

◦ ArmENIC: https://armenic.am/

Azerbaijan
◦ Ministry of Education: https://edu.gov.az/

◦ State Agency on Vocational Education: 
https://vet.edu.gov.az/

Belarus
◦ Ministry of Education: https://edu.gov.by/

◦ National Institute for Higher Education, Foreign Credentials 
Assessment Centre (Belarus ENIC): https://nihe.bsu.by/

Estonia
◦ Ministry of Education and Research: https://www.hm.ee/

◦ Academic Recognition Information Centre (Estonian 
ENIC/NARIC): https://archimedes.ee/enic/

Georgia
◦ Ministry of Education and Science: https://mes.gov.ge/

◦ National Center for Educational Quality Enhancement: 
https://eqe.ge/

Kazakhstan
◦ Ministry of Education and Science: 

https://www.gov.kz/memleket/entities/edu?lang=kk

◦ ENIC-Kazakhstan: http://www.enic-kazakhstan.edu.kz/
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https://escs.am/
https://armenic.am/
https://edu.gov.az/
https://vet.edu.gov.az/
https://edu.gov.by/
https://nihe.bsu.by/
https://www.hm.ee/
https://archimedes.ee/enic/
https://mes.gov.ge/
https://eqe.ge/
https://www.gov.kz/memleket/entities/edu?lang=kk
http://www.enic-kazakhstan.edu.kz/


Resources (cont.)
Kyrgyzstan
◦ Ministry of Education and Science: https://edu.gov.kg/

Latvia
◦ Ministry of Education and Science: 

https://www.izm.gov.lv/

◦ Academic Information Centre (Latvian ENIC/NARIC): 
http://www.aic.lv/portal/

Lithuania
◦ Ministry of Education, Science and Sport: 

https://www.smm.lt/

◦ Centre for Quality Assessment in Higher Education 
(Lithuanian ENIC/NARIC): https://www.skvc.lt/

Moldova
◦ Ministry of Education and Research: 

https://mecc.gov.md/

Russia
◦ Ministry of Education: https://edu.gov.ru/

◦ National Information Centre on Academic Recognition 
and Mobility: http://www.russianenic.ru/

Tajikistan
◦ Ministry of Education and Science: https://maorif.tj/
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https://edu.gov.kg/
https://www.izm.gov.lv/
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Resources (cont.)
Turkmenistan
◦ Ministry of Education: 

https://www.education.gov.tm/

Ukraine
◦ Ministry of Education and Science: 

https://mon.gov.ua/

◦ ENIC Ukraine: http://enic.in.ua/

Uzbekistan
◦ Ministry of Higher and Secondary Specialized 

Education: https://www.edu.uz/

Image: https://pixabay.com/
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https://www.education.gov.tm/
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